
DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 1 of 72 
 

TOWN OF APEX   1 
TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION   2 
TUESDAY, DECEMBER 16, 2025   3 

3:30 P.M.   4 
  5 
The Apex Town Council met for a work session on Tuesday, December 16, 2025 at 3:30 p.m. 6 
at the Apex Town Hall located at 73 Hunter Street in Apex North Carolina.       7 
   8 
This meeting was open to the public.  Members of the public were able to attend this 9 
meeting in-person or watch online via the livestream on the Town’s YouTube Channel:   10 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VnSj2Rg3RKM&t=9062s   11 
   12 
   13 
 [ATTENDANCE]       14 
Elected Body         15 
Mayor Jacques K. Gilbert (presiding)    16 
Mayor Pro-Tempore Terry Mahaffey  17 
Councilmember Ed Gray   18 
Councilmember Arno Zegerman  19 
Councilmember Shane Reese    20 
Councilmember Sue Mu         21 
         22 
Town Staff         23 
Deputy Town Manager Shawn Purvis         24 
Assistant Town Manager Demetria John         25 
Assistant Town Manager Marty Stone        26 
Town Attorney Laurie Hohe         27 
Town Clerk Allen Coleman         28 
       29 
All other staff members will be identified appropriately below.        30 
       31 
[CALL TO ORDER l PLEDGE OF ATTENDANCE]        32 
        33 

Mayor Gilbert called the meeting to order at 3:30 p.m., welcomed everyone. He 34 
noted that Councilmember Killingsworth would be arriving late and led everyone in the 35 
pledge of allegiance. 36 

Town Manager Vosburg welcomed all and gave an overview of the agenda timeline 37 
for the Work Session meeting.  38 

  39 
   40 
[PEAK PLAN 2055 UPDATE]  41 
 42 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VnSj2Rg3RKM&t=9062s


DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 2 of 72 
 

 Shannon Cox, Long Range Planning Manager with the Planning Department, 1 
introduced lead consultants Meg Nealon, President, Nealon Planning PLLC and Matt 2 
Noonkester, President, City Explained, Inc.  3 

Ms. Nealon gave a brief overview of the team and introduced the Consultant team, 4 
which is made up of five firms and based in the Carolinas.  5 

The following presentation was presented:  6 
[SLIDE 1] 7 

 8 
[SLIDE 2] 9 

 10 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 3 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 3] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 4] 3 

 4 
 5 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 4 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 5] 1 

 2 
 Ben Hitchingsings, gave the following part of the presentation. 3 
[SLIDE 6] 4 

 5 
 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 5 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 7] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 8] 3 

 4 
 Ms. Nealon continued with the presentation.  5 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 6 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 9] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 10] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 11] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 7 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 12] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 13] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 15] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 8 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 16] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 17] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 18] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 9 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 19] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 20] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 21] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 10 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 22] 1 

 2 
 Ms. Nealon turned the presentation back to Mr. Hitchings.  3 
[SLIDE 23] 4 

 5 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 11 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 24] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 25] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 26] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 12 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 27] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 28] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 29] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 13 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 30] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 31] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 32] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 14 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 33] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 34] 3 

 4 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 15 of 72 
 

Mr. Hitchings turned the presentation back to Ms. Nealon.  1 
[SLIDE 35] 2 

 3 
[SLIDE 36] 4 

 5 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 16 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 37] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 38] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 39] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 17 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 40] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 41] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 42] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 18 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 43] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 44] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 45] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 19 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 46] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 47] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 48] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 20 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 49] 1 

 2 
 Ms. Nealon turned this part of the presentation over to Mr. Matt Noonkester.  3 
[SLIDE 50] 4 

 5 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 21 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 51] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 52] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 53] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 22 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 54] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 55] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 56] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 23 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 57] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 58] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 59] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 24 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 60] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 61] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 62] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 25 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 63] 1 

 2 
Ms. Nealon continued with the presentation. 3 

[SLIDE 64] 4 

 5 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 26 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 65] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 65] 3 

 4 
 Mr. Hitchings asked for Council members to share any key thoughts or questions on 5 
their whiteboard. 6 

 Councilmember Zegerman asked how Apex could control growth and keep natural 7 
resources and could this be learned from other areas in the country and internationally. He 8 
gave an example of how bicycle lanes have been handled and how it may have been better if 9 
roads had been designed with bicycle lanes in mind.  10 
 Mr. Hitchings said that they were not going to respond to most of these comments 11 
but said that they do have an extensive inventory of places that they visit and observe both 12 
domestically and internationally and will be using that information to use to carry out the 13 
work of the plan and partner with Apex staff and the community.  14 
 Mayor Pro-Tempore Mahaffey asked how to make sure all voices in the community 15 
were represented, and how to balance local versus townwide views on some of the topics. He 16 
said that they are given surveys from a select group of residents with strong feelings, and may 17 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 27 of 72 
 

not represent the majority of the community, and how to ensure that decisions being made 1 
are based on the entire community. He also asked how to balance high level goals residents 2 
want versus the practical implications and planning for these projects. 3 
 Mayor Gilbert said that his interest is in long-term 2055 Community Planning and 4 
particularly the Youth Council involvement.  5 
 Ms. Nealon said that she was impressed with the numbers of youth participating and 6 
volunteering in the community and that the Youth Council were on their list to explore some 7 
ideas with them. 8 
 Councilmember Gray said that Council has been discussing the idea of rebalancing 9 
residential and commercial development economic mix.  He asked if that is the right strategy 10 
and a feasible option or should the town be pursuing a different option.  11 
 Ms. Nealon said that the jobs and tax base question had surfaced and they would be 12 
exploring this.  13 
 Councilmember Reese asked how to reconcile the public input on affordable 14 
housing and open space, and referred to urban planning. He spoke on the competing 15 
interests and priorities, and how tradeoffs exist between what people want most. He said that 16 
he appreciated the efforts of the team and the number of residents that responded, and the 17 
residents that responded were the most passionate ones, which is still very valuable, but 18 
asked how to get more of the general public to participate.  19 
 Mr. Hitchings said that they understand the challenges of working with a multi-20 
objective environment and they can help with this challenge.  21 
 Councilmember Mu said her key question is how infrastructure can keep up with 22 
development while preserving trees and community character, and how to plan better. She 23 
spoke about affordable housing and high-density communities, and the challenges in 24 
minimizing traffic impacts in tandem. She talked about how Apex can learn from other 25 
countries and locations to help make residents happier, as well as achieve the goals they set 26 
out to in regards to things like affordable housing. 27 
 Ms. Nealon said that the topics that were brought up touch on the topics of balance 28 
and also education needed while going through this process.  29 
 Mr. Hitchings said there was a unique opportunity with the Comprehensive and 30 
Transportation Plan at the same time to address some of those overlapping challenges as the 31 
plan evolves. 32 
 33 
[COMMUNITY READINESS PLAN UPDATE] 34 
  35 

Ben Hitchings, FAICP, CZO, Fellow, UNC School of Government introduced Anita 36 
Brown Graham and Michael Welker with UNCC School of Government, the NC Impact 37 
Program and David Rouse. He gave the following presentation focusing on what Apex should 38 
prioritize for inclusion in Community Readiness.  39 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 28 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 1] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 2] 3 

 4 

[SLIDE 3] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 29 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 4] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 5] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 6] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 30 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 7] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 8] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 9] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 31 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 10] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 11] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 12] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 32 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 13] 1 

 2 
 Ms. Cox said that Planning staff had worked on this project and wanted to provide a 3 
staff recommendation as a starting point for discussions, particularly on which drivers to 4 
prioritize, and the number one recommendation is housing, the second recommendation is 5 
climate, and the third recommendation is water. She said these recommendations were 6 
decided on from different scanning sessions, public forums, and staff leadership. She gave 7 
more information on other drivers that were also considered but not in the top three 8 
recommendations.  9 
 Councilmember Zegerman asked what the risks of artificial intelligence were and 10 
why it was considered a driver of change and not a solution.  11 
 Mr. Hutchings said that artificial intelligence promotes efficiency and productivity but 12 
there are risks with data privacy, and referenced the cybersecurity incident that Apex 13 
experienced. He said that they wanted to explore and understand both the opportunities and 14 
the challenges associated with artificial intelligence. He said that the challenge when trying to 15 
prepare is having to make some decisions of how to prepare with less certainty and less 16 
information than they normally like to have in local government, and the other option is not to 17 
prepare which is not a great option. He said with this type of uncertainty necessitates coming 18 
back to this type of exercise in a few years with updated information to see how these trends 19 
are evolving. 20 
 Councilmember Zegerman said that he was trying to understand why staff believe 21 
artificial intelligence is so high up on the list of priorities and what is trying to be achieved for 22 
preparedness. 23 
 Ms. Cox said that staff are thinking about the energy and support needed for the use 24 
of AI and preparing with other discussions.  25 
 Town Manager Vosburg said that there were discussions on the potential impact to 26 
the area in terms of workforce and potential job replacement as well as housing. 27 
 Director Khin said that was part of the discussion.  28 
 Councilmember Gray asked what the date of session two was. 29 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 33 of 72 
 

 Mr. Hitchings said that session two was September 16th and session three was the 1 
following morning, September 17th.  2 
 Ms. Cox said that Public Forum was October 22nd.  3 
 Mr. Hitchings said there are staff recommendations to think through to decide what 4 
should be on the list and to finalize the set of priorities.  5 
 Mayor Pro-Tempore Mahaffey said he would like to hear thoughts from the new 6 
Council members and the Mayor, as they weren’t there for the previous discussion on this.  7 
 Councilmember Mu asked about Apex water quality, she said that she had 8 
experienced change in the taste. 9 
  Mr. Hitchings said sometimes the taste changes seasonally as the form of treatment 10 
switches. He said that the water issue is broad and it includes both trying to make sure that 11 
there is clean water as a resource for drinking, for serving the existing community, for growth 12 
and development, and also in regards to flooding.  13 
 Town Manager Vosburg said that the water issue is broad, it includes quality and 14 
quantity of the water. 15 

Ms. Cox said that, as in other discussions, there were concerns related to climate 16 
affecting water or housing, so some of these issues have overlap. 17 

Mayor Gilbert said asked how public safety factors into this as Apex is a growing 18 
town, and the perception is that Apex is a safe place. He wondered how to balance that 19 
feeling with additional growth. 20 

Town Manager Vosburg said that the Police Chief was at the session and talked 21 
about safety and staff had felt Public Safety already was a high priority. He said he wasn’t sure 22 
if Chief Johansen agreed with where it was, but staff overall felt Public Safety had a lot of 23 
effort and resources already going to it, and so other things may need more attention in this 24 
context. 25 

Director Khin said there was also the possibility in the future of artificial intelligence 26 
intersecting with policing, and the Chief had given an example at the session.  27 

Councilmember Zegerman said that even if they select a top 3 or 4, that wouldn’t 28 
mean that the remaining items won’t be looked at. 29 

Mr. Hitchings said that as Apex grows, the size of the police force, fire department, 30 
etc. will need to keep pace to maintain the level of service needed.  31 
  Mayor Pro-Tempore Mahaffey said that it wasn’t intended to ask staff to develop a 32 
detailed plan but to explore new challenges that are more than a standard mitigation plan.  33 
 Councilmember Gray said that it wasn’t all the problems that needed to solve it was 34 
focusing and identifying high risk, low risk, high priority in terms of high opportunity and low 35 
priority that is reflected in these numbers for priorities.  36 
 Councilmember Reese asked in terms of recommendations, are they tiered emphasis 37 
or is it just the four and the emphasis is equal for each. 38 
 Mr. Hitchings said that the issues that Council prioritizes will be the focus of the 39 
subsequent efforts to develop a set of implementation projects to increase readiness and 40 
resilience to address the chosen priorities, and the other issues will not be looked at unless 41 
they intersect with one of the priority issues. 42 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 34 of 72 
 

 Councilmember Reese clarified the question of between the top four 1 
recommendations; would they be prioritized equally. 2 
 Mr. Hitchings said yes, they would work to develop appropriate sets of 3 
implementation projects for each of them. He gave the next steps and thanked everyone.  4 
[SLIDE 14] 5 

 6 
[SLIDE 15] 7 

 8 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 35 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 16] 1 

 2 

[CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN (CIP) OVERVIEW] 3 
 4 
 Town Manager Vosburg said that the next presentation was a CIP overview with an 5 
emphasis on overview. He said that the overall CIP goes beyond 5 years and includes future 6 
years and there is a request of $645 million total, with $367 million funded. He gave an 7 
overview of how these amounts are broken down and said there are significant decisions to 8 
be made and the timeline to prepare the budget. He asked Jessical Hoffman, Director, 9 
Budget and Performance Management, to begin the presentation. 10 
  Director Hoffman gave the following presentation.  11 

[SLIDE 1] 12 

 13 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 36 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 2] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 3] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 4] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 37 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 5] 1 

 2 
 Director Hoffman introduced intern and UNCC MPA candidate, Rachel Wooster.  3 
 Ms. Wooster gave the following part of the presentation. 4 
[SLIDE 6] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 38 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 7] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 8] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 9] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 39 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 10] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 11] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 12] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 40 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 13] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 14] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 15] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 41 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 16] 1 

 2 
 Councilmember Zegerman asked for Ms. Wooster to explain how the dollar amounts 3 
were ranked.   4 
 Ms. Wooster it has to do with the focus area questions and when given a broad 5 
category of strategic goals sometimes it is not clear which category it fits in, but when there 6 
are focus areas given and the categories within it, priorities can change because it is better 7 
understood what each area includes.  8 
[SLIDE 17] 9 

 10 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 42 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 18] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 19] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 20] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 43 of 72 
 

 Ms. Wooster concluded this part of the presentation with a dashboard, showed how it 1 
worked, and gave examples of questions. 2 
 Director Hoffman resumed this part of the presentation.  3 
[SLIDE 21] 4 

 5 
[SLIDE 22] 6 

 7 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 44 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 23] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 24] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 25] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 45 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 26] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 27] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 28] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 46 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 29] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 30] 3 

 4 
 Councilmember Zegerman asked if in the project rating criteria accounted for public 5 
input, because it seems there is a disconnect between the public input was for priorities and 6 
the staff-ranked priorities. 7 
 Director Hoffman said this doesn’t include public input, as that was running as a 8 
separate survey. She said that the categories are based on the project meeting certain criteria 9 
such as if it has a positive budget, is it addressing public service concerns, and other criteria. 10 
 Town Manager Vosburg said there are two different backgrounds that are being 11 
drawn from and the true blend is a balance in his opinion.   12 
 Councilmember Zegerman said that in his opinion, the public input should be 13 
weighed in the decision-making process, including decisions from staff. He said that without 14 
clear authority or transparency over why certain criteria are applied, the scoring may not be 15 
clear and would like the reasons to be explained, for example when a project is mandated or 16 
required for certain legal reasons.  17 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 47 of 72 
 

 Mayor Pro-Tempore Mahaffey said that there could be a list of projects from staff 1 
giving information such as what projects were already initiated or required instead of just 2 
discretionary.   3 
 Town Manager Vosburg said the number one from staff was annual pavement and 4 
infrastructure as a major priority when reviewing the overall project list specifically from the 5 
public perspective.  6 
 Councilmember Gray said that the public priorities may vary from staff’s priorities.  7 
 Mayor Pro-Tempore Mahaffey said of it was already tied to funding, as some of the 8 
money coming in for pavement cannot be reallocated to other things. He asked if the $24 9 
million was total backlog on the Annual Pavement Management. 10 
 Director Hoffman said that was the total over the next five years and the backlog was 11 
fully funded by the $10 million from the bond funds received.  12 
[SLIDE 31] 13 

 14 
[SLIDE 32] 15 

 16 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 48 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 33] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 34] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 35] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 49 of 72 
 

 Councilmember Zegerman asked if the improvements are establishing the quiet 1 
zones. 2 
 Mr. Dalton said there is a separate process that sort of runs parallel with an 3 
agreement for sidewalk projects, and that would be with the Federal Railroad Administration.  4 
[SLIDE 36] 5 

 6 
[SLIDE 37] 7 

 8 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 50 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 38] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 39] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 40] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 51 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 41] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 42] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 43] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 52 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 44] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 45] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 46] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 53 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 47] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 48] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 49] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 54 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 50] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 51] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 52] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 55 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 53] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 54] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 55] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 56 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 56] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 57] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 58] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 57 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 59] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 60] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 61] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 58 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 62] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 63] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 64] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 59 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 65] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 66] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 67] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 60 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 68] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 69] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 70] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 61 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 71] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 72] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 73] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 62 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 74] 1 

 2 
 Director Hoffman asked if there were any questions. 3 
 Mayor Pro-Tempore Mahaffey asked if certain projects like Wimberly Road were 4 
reflected in the current amounts. 5 
 Director Hoffman said that they were not reflected 6 

Mayor Pro-Tempore Mahaffey asked if there were other things than the CIF debt 7 
funding line at $12 million per year and the $100 Million parks bond. 8 

Director Hoffman said that there are two options with the parks bond, one is that it 9 
cannot use the CIF funding for a few years to bank it until you get to the $100 million and use 10 
it for the park and then it wouldn’t have to do any kind of tax rate increase to offset the bond, 11 
or the other option is to completely separately the CIF fund and fund the project every 12 
couple of years and do a bond which would come with a tax rate increate to support funding 13 
the debt payment. She said this is Apex’s capital investment fund as it is being funded 14 
currently and the general fund transfers currently as well, so when you add park funds to that 15 
it covers that project or if you decide to increase the capital fund that would also change. 16 

Mayor Pro-Tempore Mahaffey asked if the current study stays at $12 million a year.  17 
Deputy Town Manager Purvis said it is financing not $12 million in projects, and it is 18 

taking the money and financing it over 20 years, so that is the debt service payment which will 19 
be about a penny on the tax rate. 20 

Mayor Pro-Tempore Mahaffey asked if the fund transfer was $7 million. 21 
Director Hoffman said fund transfers were projects that would be included in the 22 

budget whether they come from the general fund money and is on top of the CIF, and the CIF 23 
allocation is the penny allocation being talked about, and there were 7 cents which is 24 
transferred to the debt fund for funding the CIF, additionally they fund projects through 25 
regular general fund money as well.  26 

Councilmember Zegerman asked if the net expense to the town or is this the total 27 
cost of the projects.  28 

Director Hoffman said that this is the total cost of the projects. 29 
Councilmember Zegerman asked for what the town’s expense for the projects. 30 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 63 of 72 
 

Director Hoffman said that they would include this information in the full packet from 1 
the prioritization exercise.    2 

 Mayor Gilbert thanked Director Hoffman for the presentation of the projects. He 3 
asked what the process was. 4 
 Director Hoffman said that staff has to resubmit every project each year and update 5 
the cost per square foot for the estimated building based on the most recent projects and the 6 
projects are reviewed for the most up-to-date costs. She said that they do apply escalators for 7 
future years and the future projects have a certain percentage added for increasing costs.  8 
 Councilmember Mu confirmed that the CIP plan is 5 years, and said that from the 9 
presentation she recalled that there would be 7 cents to 11 cents increase on the tax rate. 10 
 Director Hoffman said that if everything is fully funded today, that is correct.  11 
 Councilmember Mu said that we don’t have to fully fund everything today. 12 
 Director Hoffman said that was correct, and that this is where prioritization comes 13 
into play and what is being shown for the options.  14 
 Town Manager Vosburg said that considering what the tax increase for capital would 15 
be, there is also a consideration for the operational side, for example bringing a new park 16 
online, there would be staffing required to be added as well.  17 
 Mayor Gilbert asked if there were any other questions.  18 
 Town Manager Vosburg said that getting Council feedback, taking into 19 
consideration the public factor will help put forward a financially feasible plan and budget to 20 
bring back for consideration.  21 
 22 
There was a 5-minute break at 5:49 PM. 23 
 24 
Council returned at 5:54 PM. 25 
  26 
  27 
[CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT AWARD – SALEM STREETSCAPE PROJECT]   28 
 29 
 Town Manager Vosburg said that this item was supposed to have been on the last 30 
regular Council agenda but there was still some work on negotiation details. He invited Chris 31 
Johnson, Director of Transportation and Infrastructure Development Department to give the 32 
presentation.   33 

Chris Johnson, Director, Transportation and Infrastructure Development Department 34 
gave the history and overview of the project and said that Adam Stephenson, Transportation 35 
Engineering Manager, would be giving the following presentation.  36 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 64 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 1] 1 

 2 

[SLIDE 2] 3 

 4 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 65 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 3] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 4] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 5] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 66 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 6] 1 

 2 
 Mr. Stephenson gave this portion of the presentation. 3 
[SLIDE 7] 4 

 5 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 67 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 8] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 9] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 10] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 68 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 11] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 12] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 13] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 69 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 14] 1 

 2 
[SLIDE 15] 3 

 4 
[SLIDE 16] 5 

 6 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 70 of 72 
 

[SLIDE 17] 1 

 2 
 Councilmember Gray said that if the bids go back out and there is a delay for a full 3 
season or year then there would be a possible increase in cost.  4 
 Mr. Stephenson said that is correct and there is no guarantee that even if the scope is 5 
changed that it will be cheaper and there is also no guarantee that the two current bidders 6 
will resubmit, so there are a lot of risks in re-opening the bidding process. He said that these 7 
are two solid companies.  8 
 Councilmember Mu asked why there were only two bidders. 9 
 Mr. Stephenson said because of the complexity of the project and the many parts to 10 
the project. He said a lot of companies want to do most of the work themselves and do not 11 
want to assume the risk with this project. He said this case would have a lot of subcontractors. 12 
He said that there was a contractor that put in hours of putting a bid together and in the end 13 
decided they did not want to assume the risk.  14 
 Mayor Gilbert said that this project needs to be finished.  15 
 Councilmember Zegerman said that there are multiple bids that contrast each other 16 
and looking at the two bids there is a wide fluctuation of some of the line items. He gave line-17 
item differences and asked what is special for the different items asked could these be 18 
negotiated.  19 
 Mr. Stephenson said that the bids are reasonably close overall and what one 20 
contractor chooses to put in one item versus another is how they have prepared their bid and 21 
how they want to mitigate potentially the risk on certain things. He said that nothing stands 22 
out to him that is outrageous compared to the other bidder.  23 
 Director Johnson said that it is hard to look at look at item by item because every 24 
contractor works their bids differently. He gave the example of traffic control and the risk 25 
involved, and where they include that in the bid. He said they either have to go with the low 26 
bid, or modify the scope to bring the cost down. 27 
 Councilmember Zegerman asked why the contractor would not be comfortable with 28 
Apex’s Public Works doing the lighting, especially with the contractor already managing a 29 
third party for the work. He said that there could be some contract language for changing the 30 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 71 of 72 
 

scope or as the work goes on there could be a change order submitted if a better alternative 1 
was found. He asked if Apex would have the ability to change or modify this as the work is 2 
being done.  3 
 Mr. Stephenson said yes, potentially. He said that for the big items that require an 4 
electrician, Apex doesn’t have an electrician on staff, and this would be another contractor 5 
they would have to bid out and would be another contractor that now the primary contractor 6 
would have to coordinate to keep the project moving forward.  7 
 Councilmember Zegerman said that Apex has an entire electric department. 8 
 Director Khin said that Assistant Town Manager Stone spoke with her about this and 9 
part of the issue is the risk of having something off by even an eighth of an inch, that Apex’s 10 
electric staff would not be able to connect the lights to the poles. 11 

Town Manager Vosburg said and that is the benefit of having one party responsible 12 
for it and it is not usually good to make a deductive change and there is history on this. He 13 
said typically the deduction is not going to be the appropriate value for what the Town would 14 
then have to pay. 15 

Director Johnson said that these conversations have been had and lasted for at least 16 
a week.  17 

Councilmember Zegerman said that every project that has been done comes in 18 
millions of dollars over which means that either the Town is terrible at estimating or 19 
contractors take advantage of the situation, and Council are stewards of the taxpayers’ money 20 
and is asking for staff to do the best they can to get more bids or better estimates on these 21 
things. 22 

Town Manager Vosburg noted this was an engineer estimate, and was not done 23 
internally. 24 

Mr. Stephenson said that he couldn’t speak to other projects being referred to, but 25 
for Transportation this is a unique project and an outlier.  26 
 Councilmember Reese said there may be other funding that has been allocated, 27 
perhaps there is an opportunity to reallocate some of the Commerce Street Funding to this 28 
project, there may be some recouperation of the overrun cost, but that is for another time to 29 
discuss. He said that he supported this even considering the price. He said that this project 30 
was presented almost 12 years and the downtown plan was approved in 2019, and what is 31 
envisioned in Apex over a decade ago is what they’re hopefully about to say yes to finally get 32 
things that are tangible and underway. He said that perhaps this doesn’t necessarily match 33 
with some of the other priorities, when it comes to downtown as our economic development 34 
team and as former Economic Development Director Joanna Helms said, that when 35 
companies come into town the first thing they regularly say is show me your downtown. He 36 
said that this is Apex’s front porch, our calling card, and the crown jewel for our town and a 37 
place for people to feel like the belong. 38 

Councilmember Mu asked if awarding one general contractor to manage the 39 
subcontractors is a better way than breaking down all of these items and letting each 40 
contractor bid for each item.  41 



DRAFT l DECEMBER 16, 2025 TOWN COUNCIL WORK SESSION MEETING MINUTES 

Page 72 of 72 
 

Director Johnson said yes and for multiple reasons, they are responsible for all safety, 1 
so bringing in two contractors creates a blame game of things that may go wrong, and puts 2 
the town in the position that if the second contractor causes any delay, then the primary 3 
contractor has damages against the town. He said keeping it under one umbrella where one 4 
contractor is responsible for all the subcontractors reduces town liability.  5 

Councilmember Reese said that another reason for expediency of developing this 6 
project is that the downtown businesses make a third or more of their entire annual revenue 7 
during the holiday season, and there has been a misconception for years that downtown 8 
businesses are making money hand over fist, this is a low margin business downtown. He 9 
encouraged residents to shop downtown. He said that if this project is not done by October it 10 
takes away the downtown businesses viability and people will go somewhere else to shop.  11 

Councilmember Mu asked when this should begin to be able to meet this deadline. 12 
Town Manager Vosburg said that there is not a lot of time and they need to start this 13 

quickly and the compressed nature of the project added to the risk, it’s an investment that this 14 
Council prioritized for those businesses. He said a longer timeframe may have gotten more 15 
bidders, but it isn’t guaranteed. 16 

Councilmember Reese said the importance of accomplishing this project with a 17 
bidder who is accountable in a compressed timeline is to protect the downtown businesses. 18 

Mr. Stephenson said that no bidder or potential bidder said this is not enough time 19 
to complete the project.  20 

Mayor Gilbert referred to Mayor Pro-Tempore Mahaffey. 21 
Mayor Pro-Tempore Mahaffey said that there weren’t going to be better prices, the 22 

project needed to be done for the betterment of the downtown area. 23 
Councilmember Gray said that this is not getting any cheaper as the town waits.  24 
 25 
A motion was made by to Councilmember Gray, seconded by Mayor Pro-Tempore 26 

Mahaffey, to award a construction contract to Browe Construction Company with a 10% 27 
contingency added for the construction budget, and to authorize the Town Manager to 28 
execute the agreement and approve the associated budget ordinance amendment.  29 

 VOTE: UNANIMOUS (5-0) 30 
   31 
 [ADJOURNEMENT]        32 
       Mayor Gilbert adjourned the meeting at 6:27 p.m.  33 

Jacques K. Gilbert       34 
Apex, Mayor       35 

 Allen Coleman, CMC 36 
Town Clerk to the Apex Town Council                37 
Submitted for approval by Apex Town Clerk Allen Coleman     38 
    39 
Minutes approved on ________ of ______________________________, 2026.        40 


